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Polish Partisan Formations during 1942-1944
in Jewish Testimonies

For many Jews who made an attempt to save their lives after the ghettos had
been liquidated, the existence of Polish partisan formations and their attitude to
refugees became a matter of life and death. On the one hand, joining a Polish unit
gave them a chance to survive and take part in anti-German resistance; on the other
hand, civilians hiding in woods and villages had to treat Polish partisans as a force
to be reckoned with. This article aims to examine, on the basis of narrative sources
produced by Jews, how those hiding perceived the partisan units of the Polish un-
derground, what they witnessed, what stories were circulated about it, what emo-
tions it aroused, how it was characterised, what it was for them: a chance for sur-
vival, help or a threat? I was interested not only in concrete events, but the entire
sphere of imagination, feelings, and models of behaviour of Polish Jews vis-a-vis
Polish partisans.

One unique source for this type of research consists of testimonies and memoirs
of Jewish survivors. This article is based on my research carried out in the Testimo-
ny Fond of the Jewish Historical Institute Archives in Warsaw.! Among over 7,000
testimonies, I chose those that mentioned “Polish partisans” or names of Polish un-
derground formations, not only those that were pro-independence (the Home Army
and lesser armed groups incorporated during the so-called “integration action” as
well as the National Armed Forces), but also the People’s Guard and the People’s
Army. This article deals exclusively with issues of forest-, and village-based partisan
units. It does not deal with issues of relations between Jews and the Polish under-
ground in towns and cities; hence I did not include testimonies from the Warsaw
Uprising or testimonies of Jewish members of underground organizations, not even
those temporarily engaged in a partisan unit.

It is very difficult to adopt a definition of Polish partisan formations with respect
to Jewish testimonies. I did not choose to regard as a partisan unit any group thus
called by authors of testimonies, because it would greatly distort the picture. First, I
dismissed those testimonies that mention the term “partisans” but it is evident from
the context that it was a group of a different kind, as in, for example Dobruczka
Kowzato’s testimonies, in which the term “partisans” is used to describe a group of

! Hereinafter AZIH. For linguistic reasons I have considered only testimonies written in Polish
and those written in Yiddish translated and available in the archives.
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refugees.? Second, I dismissed testimonies concerning Polish self-defence groups
from Volhynia and Galicia. They were, indeed, armed groups made up of Poles,
but they did not represent the Polish underground state or the communist under-
ground, but were an independent, grass-roots initiative. Some were even backed by
the Home Army, but this was not reflected in the memoirs. In yet another testimony
a peasants’ self-defence group was treated as partisans.? Third, this article does not
contain testimonies which make references to such terms as Polish-Soviet or Polish-
Jewish partisans. They usually were loose groups of refugees who had made for
the woods, and formed ethnically mixed units, or units made up of Poles or com-
manded by Poles, but were subordinated to Soviet partisan staffs. In principle, apart
from these three cases, I regarded as Polish partisan units those groups that were
so named by the authors of testimonies and associated them with armed forma-
tions of the Polish underground. I should explain why I included the partisan units
of the People’s Guard/Army. One problem is the issue of their non-Polish (Soviet)
command; another, their frequently mixed ethnic make-up, particularly at the early
stages. I have decided to include the People’s Guard not only because the authors of
the testimonies considered it to be a Polish organisation, but also due to the fact that
it is invariably defined as a Polish formation in Jewish historiography, frequently
mythologised and contrasted with the “dark legend” of the Home Army and the
National Armed Forces.

The relations between Jews and the Polish underground have been greatly my-
thologised. There are debates going on between Jewish and Polish historians, and
between communist and right-wing historians as well. The already mentioned “dark
legend” accuses the Polish pro-independence underground of not helping their Jew-
ish fellow citizens, dissociating from the Jewish resistance movement, refusing to
accept Jews into their ranks, attacking Jewish partisan units, and finally, of com-
mitting racially-motivated murder. In some publications, the Home Army and the
National Armed Forces are portrayed as an equally dangerous enemy as the Ger-
mans.* Polish historiography responds to such claims by accusing Israeli historians
of failure to understand the context of events and the operational capabilities of the
Polish underground, overlooking positive facts, or even lack of conscientiousness.”

2“In the last months we’d joined a Polish partisan unit near Piisk. They were Poles from the

Dabrowica area and the entire Polesie [region]. They had to go to the woods, because they were
being destroyed like the Jews.” Dobruczka Kowzato’s testimony, AZIH 301/404, p. 5.

3 ”At the same time the local peasants wanted to organise a partisan formation to fight against
the Germans, Russians and Jews.” Chunay Zak’s testimony, AZIH 301/3532, p. 2.

4 Cf. R. Ainstein, Jewish Resistance in Nazi-occupied Eastern Europe (London, 1974), 499; S.
Krakowski, The War of the Doomed. Jewish Armed Resistance in Poland 1942-1944 (New York,
1984); I. Gutman, S. Krakowski, Unequal Victims. Poles and Jews During World War I (New York,
1986).

5> Marek Jan Chodakiewicz, Zydzi i Polacy 1918 - 1955. Wspétistnienie - Zagtada - Komunizm
(Warsaw, Fronda, 2000); L. Zebrowski, introductions to: Narodowe Sity Zbrojne. Dokumenty
- struktury - personalia, vol. 1, (Warsaw, 1994), vol. 2 (Warsaw, 1996); I. Barwich, ed., Polskie
Podziemie Polityczne wobec zagtady Zydéw w czasie okupacji Niemieckiej (Warsaw, 1988); K. Du-
nin-Wasowicz, ed., Spoteczeristwo polskie wobec martyrologii i walki Zydéw w latach Il wojny swia-
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What seems to be important here is the attitude to sources. Whereas Jewish histo-
rians tend to take at face value any statement made in Jewish testimonies, Polish
historians hardly ever make any reference to them. Yet, even though testimonies
require great caution as historical sources, they are frequently the only source avail-
able. In fact, Jewish perception of Polish partisan formations can only be explained
on the basis of testimonies.

However, one should be mindful of the fact that the picture of Polish partisan
formations was formed in the immediate post-war years, in the atmosphere of that
time and based on the assessments made then of the Polish underground’s activity.
Of the 108 testimonies that meet the above outlined criteria, 74 were submitted to
the Jewish Historical Commission during 1945-1950, a period of particularly inten-
sive propaganda against the Polish underground state and the Home Army, let alone
the National Armed Forces; at the same time, the achievements of the Polish Work-
ers’ Party and the People’s Guard/Army in their anti-German struggle was greatly
exaggerated. Also, Jewish organisations officially claimed and accused, expressis
verbis, Polish partisan formations of complicity in the Holocaust.® It became cus-
tomary to implicate the Home Army and National Armed Forces with murder of
Jews. I do not claim that it resulted in a spate of lies, but it could particularize those
testimonies, and dot certain i’s, which could only be surmised by those giving tes-
timonies. In most cases, [ believe, this was not intended to mislead. Psychological
research demonstrates how easily people transform their memories of overheard or
read information into facts, which they then consider certain, just as they eliminate
facts that contradict commonly held beliefs.” One should be mindful of this phe-
nomenon when reading testimonies, particularly those whose authors formulate
general opinions and judgements, instead of describing concrete cases.

Another influence on the form of a given testimony is who its author was. Of the
109 testimonies on which this article is based, 24 were written by Soviet partisans,
and 28 by People’s Guard/Army partisans. Evidently, the attitude of Polish partisan
units to these formations was hostile, and based on political considerations. But it is
easier to ascribe negative characteristics to political enemies.

Different types of problems may arise from the definition of the term “parti-
san”. This term could have been used in a testimony to refer to a sympathizer of
the underground or an underground activist, sometimes to an armed person, or a
member of an armed group operating in the woods, and could refer to bandits as

towej. Materiaty z sesji w IH PAN (Warsaw, 1996); T. Prekerova, Zakres dziejéw Zydéw w Polsce w
latach 1939 - 1945 (Warsaw, 1992); idem, “Podziemie Zydowskie a podziemie polskie”, Odra No. 3
(1991), 20-36.

© For example, the following passage can be found in a proclamation of the Central Jewish
Committee in Poland of 4 February 1945: “It [the Jewish population] will never forget the criminals
from the NSZ or the AK, who serving the Nazi bandits actively participated in murdering the Jew-
ish population, [and] killed Jewish partisans. They have the blood of many Jews on their hands,”
quoted in A. Grabski, Zydowski ruch kombatancki w Polsce w latach 1944-1949 (Warsaw, 2002), 21.
See also “rezolucja Zwiazku Partyzantéw Zydow z 1945 roku”, ibid., 191-192.

7 Krystyna Kersten, “Relacje jako typ zrédta historycznego”, Kultura i spoteczeristwo, 1970, vol.
14, No. 3, 133.
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well. In an attempt to eliminate such cases, I dismissed all testimonies that do not
specify the name of the formation. This does not, however, offer a complete solu-
tion to the issue of underground soldiers being implicated in banditry by authors
of testimonies. This is particularly true of soldiers of the Home Army, the largest
Polish underground organisation, which, on the one hand, facilitated pretending to
be this organisation [by various groups], and, on the other, the tendency of testimo-
ny authors to identify every armed group with this organisation. Also, terms such
as “NSZ-etowiec” (member of the National Armed Forces), “AK-owiec” (member of
the Polish Home Army), and “PPR-owiec” (member of the Polish Workers’ Party), in
some testimonies might denote a person with definite political views, but not neces-
sarily their actual political affiliation. The authors of testimonies who tend to treat
Polish underground formations as a whole often confuse the individual formations.
One testimony mentions “conspiracy for the Home Army or People’s Army”, and its
author fails to notice the fundamental differences between the two formations.?

[ have also considered autobiographical materials written several or even several
dozen years after the war. Their weakness, in turn, is the long temporal distance,
gaps in their authors’ memory, being modelled on the already published memoirs
and scholarly text concerning the Holocaust, or different types of ideological bias.
They have one advantage, however; to wit, they are not influenced by the aggres-
sive propaganda of the first post-war decade. Furthermore, the temporal distance
between these testimonies and the events they describe is conducive to greater ob-
jectivity and more balanced judgement.

These reservations, however, cannot lead to a complete dismissal of testimo-
nies as a source. When we consider the context of the absolutising influence of
propaganda, it is curious that numerous testimonies describe the brutality of Soviet
partisan units: rape, theft, disarming, atrocious anti-Semitism in their midst.” Also,
all the negative aspects of People’s Guard partisan units can be found in testimonies
given by their members.° The official propaganda line was totally different with re-
spect to these issues, and those who gave such testimonies risked getting into trou-
ble for their frankness. One should also be mindful that the testimonies were given
for research purposes, and were not meant to be promulgated or published. What
is most important, however, is the fact that, in this article, I have examined percep-
tions of Polish partisan formations; therefore, even assuming certain falsehood at
the factographic level, I have not erred in determining the views of the authors of
the testimonies on the attitude of partisans. In principle, this study can be treated as
a description of certain stereotypes.

The analysis of material contained in testimonies can be divided into two main
thematic groups. I shall begin by outlining the circumstances in which Jews joined
Polish partisan units as soldiers and how they were treated, then I shall move on

8 Karol Grebel’s testimony, AZIH 301/4673, 7.

° For example, AZIH 301/49; 156; 397; 563; 568; 569; 664; 719; 961; 1046; 2837; 2994; 3755;
4722; 5657.

10 Testimonies of Abram Bron (AZIH 301/542), Jan Zateski (301/1818), Sara Gutgold (201/4615),
Marian Szarach (301/5344).



Aleksandra Bartkowska, Polish Partisan Formations during 1942-1944... 107

to discuss the attitude of Polish partisans towards independent Jewish groups and
Jewish individuals hiding in the country and in the woods. In order to maintain clar-
ity in my presentation I have separated discussions regarding the different partisan
formations.

There are surprisingly few testimonies regarding Polish partisan formations
- only 109 meet my criteria. Most frequently, they mention the Home Army (70
testimonies), quite frequently, the People’s Guard/Army (37 testimonies), then the
National Armed Forces (16 testimonies), the Peasants’ Battalions (6 testimonies),
and socialist armed groups (5 testimonies). In Vilna, Nowogrédek and Biatystok
provinces, Soviet partisans, and after them also Jewish partisans, referred to the
Home Army as the “Whites”, “White Poles” or “White partisans”.!! Geographically,
this text deals with the pre-1939 territory of Poland. Most testimonies pertain to the
Lublin (28) and Kielce (20) provinces, fewer to the Krakéw (13), Biatystok (12),
Warsaw (12) and Nowogrdédek (9) provinces. Others are mentioned only sporadi-
cally. Some testimonies describe the same event or the same detachment. But, in
principle, their contents do not overlap.

Most testimonies (i.e. 70) mention Home Army partisans.!? In principle, they
discuss three issues: Jews joining Home Army detachments, murders committed
by Home Army members on Jews, and inter-partisan fighting. Three testimonies
are of neutral character: they merely mention Home Army partisan activity, but
their authors did not take part.!® Three others mention help offered by Home Army
members to Jews. One discusses care offered by a detachment to a boy who jumped
off a train to a death camp.! In her testimony, Sonia Powazek mentions help given
to a group of 17 Jews, roaming around the Mazowsze countryside, by a Home Army
commander, Bek, actually against the will of his subordinates.!® In yet another, its
author mentions that his 36-man strong group of refugees from Drupia in the Siedlce
region received weapons from the Home Army and Peasants’ Battalions.!®

Jews who joined the Home Army were almost exclusively isolated individuals.
Only one testimony mentions short-lived collaboration between a group of refu-
gees from Sterdyn in the Podlasie region and the local Home Army detachment,
terminated, according to the author, due the aggressively anti-Semitic behaviour
of the Poles.'” According to the memoirs of the Jewish Fighting Organisation mem-
bers Icchak Cukierman and Cywia Lubetkin, negotiations were conducted with the
Home Army to escort some young people out of the ghetto. The Jewish Fighting

11 K. Krajewski, Na ziemi nowogrédzkiej. ‘Néw’ - Nowogrédzki Okreg Armii Krajowej (Warsaw,
1997), 143, 150.

12 All figures in this text refer exclusively to testimonies from the ZIH archives. For the sake of
illustration, I sometimes give examples from published memoirs, but I separate them from data
included in testimonies.

13 Testimonies of Izrael Wegwajzer, AZIH (301/1440), Helena Trok (301/2507) and Adam
Grosberg (301/5445).

14 Salomon Liberman’s testimony, AZIH 301/2752.

15 Sonia Powazek’s testimony, AZIH 301/4380.

16 Eli Gorzeliriski’s testimony, AZIH 301/6383.

17 Pinchas Lerman’s testimony, AZIH 301/4771.
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Organisation leadership, even before the Warsaw Ghetto uprising, received a pro-
posal from the Home Army to move to Volhynia, where Polish-Ukrainian fighting
was already in full sway. Cukierman turned down the option, as he said for two
reasons: “1) none of them [Jewish Fighting Organisation members] will make it to
Volhynia, because they are Jews, and in order to get there, one would have to travel
hundreds of kilometres through hostile territory; 2) Volhynia was a battleground for
Poles, Germans and Ukrainians and there was no place there for Jewish partisans.”
The Jewish Fighting Organisation command decided that this order could not be
executed and it was tantamount to a death sentence.!® A failed attempt to join a par-
tisan detachment, made by a group of Przemysl Jews, is discussed in Karol Grebel’s
testimony: “We received a negative response, with an explanation that the Jews
were trying, at any price, to free themselves from their plight and would gladly col-
laborate with the Soviets, which the Polish partisans would object to.”!° This is the
only Jewish testimony which pointedly explained why Polish partisan formations
would not accept Jews, and which formulated clear accusations against the Jew-
ish community. Jews, refugees from the ghettos, for Polish partisans were merely
people trying to survive, but not potential soldiers. And since their aim was only
to survive, they could not be expected to fight bravely. They were also indifferent
about the political goals of the partisan formations, which were determined to fight
for independent Poland. Thus, it was assumed a priori that Jews would collaborate
with the Soviets, if a Polish-Soviet conflict broke out, at least for practical reasons.
Such opinions were rooted in the commonly held assessment of the behaviour of
the Jews under the Soviet occupation of eastern Poland during 1939-1941. There is
no trace of supposition that a Jew could be a Polish patriot. Fears of [the Jews’] at-
titude to the Soviet Union and communist influences in ghetto organisations were
the reasons behind Home Army representatives breaking off talks with the ghetto
underground in Vilna and Biatystok.2

If it is true that the Home Army did not accept groups of Jewish refugees into its
ranks, then acceptance of individual Jews looked a little different. I have not found
in the ZIH archives a single testimony of an individual being turned down for mem-
bership by a partisan formation. This matter has come up three times in published
memoirs. Marian Berland made attempts to join a partisan formation through a col-
league who was working in Warsaw. The result was a statement to the effect that
“Jews aren’t accepted very much.”?! Julian Aleksandrowicz, a physician, and a pre-
war officer, who had fought in the September campaign (of 1939), was referred to a
Home Army detachment after a year of deception and waiting. For this he blamed
the leadership of Cracow Home Army.?> Another person turned down was Tomasz

8 Jcchak Cukierman, Nadmiar pamieci. (Siedem owych lat). Wspomnienia 1939-1945, transl.
Z. Perelmuter (Warsaw, 2000), 278. C. Lubetkin, Zagtada i powstanie), transl. M. Krych (Warsaw,
1999), 142-146.

19 Karol Gebel’s testimony, AZIH 301/4673, p. 7.

20y, Arad, Ghetto in Flames (New York, 1982), 248-249; T. Prekerowa, Podziemie zydowskie...,
op. cit., 34-35.

2l Marian Berland, Dni dtugie jak wieki (Warsaw, 1992), 283.

22 Julian Aleksandrowicz, Kartki z dziennika doktora Twardego (Cracow, 2001), 61-70.
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Toivi Blatt, a refugee from Sobibdr, although he met a friend who could vouch for
him in a detachment he wished to join.?? It is hard to say how often similar situa-
tions were the case. There were only a few Jews who served in Home Army detach-
ments and did not hide their identity.

I have found 12 testimonies of Jews who were Home Army partisans. One could
also add to these the published memoirs by Halina Zawadzka and Julian Aleksan-
drowicz.?* The volunteers’ priority was to establish contact with a Home Army cell.
Some had been active in the underground before joining a [partisan] detachment.?
Others, already in hiding “on Aryan papers”, got in touch with a Home Army activist
and were sent to a partisan detachment in the woods or collaborated with one.?® In
the case of others, their Polish acquaintances opened doors for them.%” Four testimo-
nies mention their authors’ being accepted by a Home Army detachment following
an accidental encounter in the woods. This might appear odd: a person wandering
in the woods meets a partisan patrol, is then taken to the command post, questioned
and accepted, if for some reason the commander decides to trust that person.2

A great majority of these people used their “Aryan papers” while in a Home
Army detachment. One cannot say for certain that all of them were actually trying to
hide their identity. One author, who emphasised that he served in a detachment as
an Aryan, recalls that there were both Jews and Poles in the ranks.?’ Evidently, their
concealment was either imperfect or unnecessary. Others were hiding their Jewish
origin. Those who joined a [partisan] detachment after an accidental encounter did
so for fear of their lives. Jakub Kogut was also hiding his brother, who had a Semitic
appearance, from the partisans in his detachment.’® Doctor Aleksandrowicz was
afraid that his origin might be disclosed, which is mentioned in the testimony of
Salomon Reis, who was a member of the Home Army “Huragan’s” detachment in
the Kielce region. Reis himself was not hiding. Forced to leave the detachment, Ale-
ksandrowicz revealed his real name to him, asking him at the same time not to dis-
close it to anyone, as it would have been tantamount to a death sentence. His fears
were confirmed by the way Reis was treated by the members of his detachment. He
was forced to pay for his upkeep, met with strong aversion, and was threatened to be
killed. His commander’s interventions saved him.3' Only one testimony mentions

23 Toivi Blatt, Z popiotéw Sobiboru (skqd nie byto powrotu). Historia przetrwania (Wtodawa,
2002), 164-165.

24 Halina Zawadzka, Ucieczka z getta (Warsaw, 2001), Julian Aleksandrowicz, Kartki . . ., op. cit.

25Jankiel Kopiec’s testimony, AZIH 301/2555.

26 Testimony of Jerzy Fordowski, AZIH 301/2294, Nechemiasz Szulkaper (301/3962), Oskar
Gelles (301/1207), Henryk Wasserlauf (301/1585).

27 Henryk Herstein’s testimony, AZIH 301/3263, H. Zawadzka, Ucieczka z getta, op. cit., 120; J.
Aleksandrowicz, Kartki..., op. cit., 61-70.

28 Testimonies of Juliusz Gryczman, AZIH 301/1199, Salomon Reis (301/1791), Abraham Fur-
man (301/4716) and Jakub Kogut (301/4970).

29 Jankiel Kopiec’s testimony, AZIH 301/2555.

30 Testimonies of Juliusz Gryczman, AZIH 301/1199 and Jakub Kogut (301/4970).

31 Salomon Reis’s testimony, AZIH 301/1791. Jews were treated in a similar manner in the
detachment, with which, without trying to hide, Abraham Furman stayed. When his comrade told
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a Jewish woman exposed before a detachment commander. Its author, Alina Colle,
was summoned by the commander, who allowed her to stay with the detachment,
but was evidently afraid of what could happen if more people found out about her
origin. The author herself, like Aleksandrowicz, was certain that she would be killed
for her Jewish origin.3?

Similar statements can be found in a number of testimonies. Jews hiding in the
woods and in the country were frightened of death at the hands of Home Army
partisans, and, it seems, this feeling prevailed in their attitude. In the set I have ana-
lysed, there are 36 testimonies that describe an atmosphere of menace generated by
the partisans. The crucial issue here is the source of information regarding Home
Army members committing murders on Jews. In 9 testimonies, their authors give
no explanation, while some do not provide any examples.3* In Adolf Wolfgang’s tes-
timony and in Halina Zawadzka’s memoirs, information on murder came from the
partisans themselves, unaware that they were talking to Jews who were hiding their
[true] identity.3* Three authors were threatened directly by partisans.?® Nine authors
were would-be victims.3® Six told stories they had heard, but they did happen in the
area where they were staying. In most cases, their source was a Polish acquaint-
ance.* Izak Lichtenberg, the author of another testimony, was a Soviet partisan,
who was sent to the Kielce region to find information for the intelligence service.
He also describes murders of Jews committed by members of the National Armed
Forces.?® Five testimonies are clearly second-hand. They give information about the
fate of refugees from the ghettos which the authors could not have witnessed. Two
of them mention murder of the authors’ family members, but it is not clear where
the authors obtained the information on the perpetrators.3°

A good deal of narrations deal with murders of individuals or small groups of
Jews wandering around the woods. Refugees from ghettos or camps were attacked
sometimes immediately after their escape - according to testimonies of Jews from
Krasnik, J6zeféw (both in the Lublin region), Ostrowiec Swietokrzyski, Vilna and

him that he could not vouch for his life, he escaped and hid in the woods until the end of the war
(Abraham Furman’s testimony, AZIH 301/4716).

32 Alina Colle’s testimony, AZIH 301/4009.

33 Testimonies of Bluma Dagnefisz-Drajer, AZIH 301/1452, Juliusz Gryczman (301/1199). To-
wia Groll (301/2614), Chaskiel Zacharewicz (301/3148), Alina Colle (301/4009), Ita Gartenkrantz
(301/4103), Jakub Kogut (301/4970), Fiszel Flechter (301/5440), Natan Rodat (3011/6299).

34 Adolf Wolfgang’s testimony, AZIH 301/590, H. Zawadzka, Ucieczka z getta..., op. cit.

35 Testimonies of Hela Arbeiter, AZIH 301/272, Salomon Reis (301/1791), Abraham Furman
(301/4716).

36 Testimonies of Abram Finkler, AZIH 301/55, Izrael Szlajcher (301/105), Jakow Malewski
(301/507), Hirszel Cukierman (301/1187), Karolina Kremer (301/1569), Zelman Baum (301/2425),
Beniamin Brest (301/2531), Szmuel Garber (301/3604), Icek Szlama Cwajgman (301/4427).

37 Anonymous testimony, AZIH 301/379, testimonies of Pesla Pencyna (301/1525) Pinkus
Kornhauser (301/1647), Jedida Klajnlerer and Gerszon Lewkowicz (301/2760), Josel Szyszler
(301/3132), Mosze Zylberszpan (301/4137).

38 Jzak Lichtenberg’s testimony, AZIH 301/2441.

3 Testimonies of Ita Hering-Hilowa, AZIH 301/111, Wolf Fajnsztat (301/945), Nuchim Rozenel
(301/2221), Chil Grynszpan and J6zef Birger (301/4858), Lila Szynowtoga (301/5521).
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Lida.*® Permanent hideouts in the woods were destroyed as well. According to one
witness, partisans would shoot inside the dugout. Escape was only possible through
a back exit.*! Other testimonies specify that such attacks took place: near the village
of Paprotnia outside Garwolin, where 12 people were killed; near Zamos$¢ - 3 vic-
tims; near Ostrowiec Swietokrzyski - a few people; in a forest near Przysucha - 10
people.*? Some information of murders of random Jews found in the woods can be
found in Adolf Wolfgang’s testimony. Wolfgang encountered a Home Army patrol,
his ID was checked (he had “Aryan papers”) and he asked to be referred to a PPS
detachment, which was done quite smoothly. The guards “said, apologising, that
recently a great number of Jews had been hiding in the woods and they got shot.”*
Halina Zawadzka obtained similar information. When she was with a Home Army
detachment, hiding her true identity, she found out that soon before she arrived, her
comrades shot a Jew who was sneaking through the woods, because “it was safer
for everyone”.#

Some testimonies deal with murders committed in the country. What astonishes
the reader is the fact that partisans are reported to have been fairly actively search-
ing for victims. Partisans would turn up unforeseen in houses where Jews were
hiding temporarily. In one case, seven Jews were taken to the police station; in
two others there were shootouts, with the authors being able to escape; in the last
testimony, the author miraculously survived a massacre and witnessed the death of
eight family members.*> Two testimonies mention the torturing of captured Jews,
so that they would reveal the hideouts of others.*® Sometimes houses were searched
for Jews. One anonymous testimony describes such an assault, which resulted in
three Jews being killed: “Fira said that Home Army members came to him at night,
asking where the Jews were, but if he didn’t tell and they found them, everyone
would be shot, so he was forced to confess and show where they were.”# In two
cases, searches led to the death of the Jews found in the process.*® But, more often
than not, the Poles who harboured them managed to prevent intervention and when
they heard that partisans were approaching either told their guests to leave or found
them a different hideout.*’

40 Testimonies of Nuchim Rozenel, AZIH 301/2221, Izrael Szlacher (301/105), Beniamin Brest
(301/2531), Jakow Malewski (301/507).

41 Karolina Kremer’s testimony, AZIH 301/1569. Her hideout was located in the woods near
Potaniec.

42 Testimonies of Ita Hering-Hilowa, AZIH 301/111, Wolf Fajnsztat (301/945), Josel Szyszler
(301/3132), Mosze Zylberszpan (301/4137).

43 Adolf Wolfgang’s testimony, AZIH 301/590.

44 H, Zawadzka, Ucieczka z getta..., op. cit., 121.

45 Testimonies of Zelman Baum, AZIH 301/2425, Hirszel Cukierman (301/1187), Beniamin
Brest (301/2531), Karolina Kremer (301/1569)

46 Testimonies of Zelman Baum, AZIH 301/2425, Lila Szynowtogi (301/5521).

47 Anonymous testimony, AZIH 301/379, p. 2.

48 Ibid., and testimonies of Zelman Baum, AZIH 301/2425, Pesla Pencyna (301/1525).

49 Testimonies of Aron Brejzel, AZIH 301/34, Josel Szyszler (301/3132), Chaskiel Zacharewicz
(301/3158), Fiszel Fechter (301/544).
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Sometimes a Jew hiding in a Polish home was evicted with the consent of the
Pole in question, as, for example in Pinkus Kornhauser’s testimony. A peasant from
the village of Olszyny in the Cracow region, who wanted to get rid of four Jews he
was hiding, handed them over to a Home Army detachment, who shot them in the
woods.* In other cases, partisans’ intrusion was totally unwelcome to the peasants.
According to Pesla Pencyna’s testimony (who was hiding “on Aryan papers” in a
village near Cracow), one of her friends complained that the partisans who took the
Jew she was hiding left her with nothing to live on, because the money he was giv-
ing her was her basic income.>! Those who were hiding Jews, regardless of motiva-
tion, risked partisans’ intervention, and sometimes had to suffer repression. Josef
Szyszter, who was hiding with the peasant Laskowski in the village of Gawenda in
the Kielce region, describes such an intervention as follows: “Laskowski prepared
the last hideout, because he was afraid of Polish partisans. They just came to see
him and demanded that he give me over, [and] they beat him. At that time [ was hid-
ing behind a spruce tree and saw the partisans beating him up. They told him to give
me over, and promised not to hurt him.”%? Sometimes Poles, due to fear of partisans,
threw out the Jews they were hiding and used this as a pretext to refuse help.>

Sometimes Poles who were helping both Jews and partisans hid them from each
other. One testimony describes a Polish woman who was hiding several Jews in
the basement and two Home Army members in the attic. One night her gall stones
caused pain. Even though there was a doctor in the basement, she did not let him
out, afraid of the reaction of those in the attic.5* This is a perfect illustration of how
deep and general a conspiracy was necessary to hide Jews, and what kind of para-
doxical situations it caused. Equally absurd seems the conspiracy in helping a group
of Jews by providing them with food and information on the part of a PPS partisan
detachment. Perhaps the reason was to hide the fact that such help was being of-
fered a neighbouring Home Army detachment, which, according to the author of
the testimony, shot Jews encountered in the woods indiscriminately.>®

Home Army partisans are also accused of cheating Jews who were willing to join
them, leading them into ambush, and attacks on Jewish partisan detachments and
family camps. I have found two testimonies accusing Polish partisans of provoca-
tion. One took place in Ostrowiec Swietokrzyski, where a group of 18 Jews was
taken out of the ghetto for a sizeable fee (10 thousand zlotys per person), demand-
ing additional benefits such as clothes, shoe leather, and money for food. After these
Jews had been robbed of their property, all of them were murdered. The author of
the testimony survived by pretending to be dead. The unit was commanded by a
major of the Polish Army, whom the author identified. According to a different testi-
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mony from Ostrowiec, this murder was committed by a Home Army detachment.>®
Abram Finkler’s partisan group was formed as a result of another provocation: a
group of 23 Jews working in a plant at Wolanéw, persuaded by a Polish employee,
ostensibly a Home Army member, escaped to a [partisan] unit. When they reached
their destination, they were shot at. Most of them managed to flee, but never sought
contact with Polish partisan formations.>’

One testimony, by Jechiel Grynszpan, the commander of a People’s Guard detach-
ment, says that the Home Army was responsible for murdering a group of refugees
from a prisoner-of-war camp at Lublin. The group’s leader was Wolf Glajcher. This, as
it seems infamous incident, is mentioned in two other testimonies, but they specify
that it was a Polish Military Organisation (POW) detachment of “Czarny’s” group.>®
According to historians, the most important testimony in this case, i.e. that of Jan
Szelubski, a member of Glajcher’s group, was falsified by the author for opportunistic
reasons. In fact the murder appears to have been committed by people sent by the
People’s Guard [partisan] unit commander Grzegorz Korczynski. The reason is con-
sidered to be Glajcher and Szelubski’s refusal to join Korczyriski’s detachment.>

Two cases involving a detachment made up of Jewish Fighting Organisation
members from the Warsaw and Czestochowa regions led to a conflict between the
Jewish underground and the Home Army. The first case involved the disappearance
of Mordechaj Growas’s group, which was part of the [larger] Anielewicz unit, affili-
ated with the People’s Guard and operating in the woods around Wyszkéw. Some
time later the group purportedly joined a Home Army detachment and was never
heard of again. Icchak Cukierman claims that the group members were murdered
by their comrades.®® Another infamous case involves the attack of 2" Lieutenant
Leon Szymbierski’s (“Orzet”) Home Army detachment on a group of Jewish refu-
gees from Czestochowa, which took place near Koniecpol, and as a result of which
several people were killed.®! The Jewish detachment was made up of fighters of the
Czestochowa Jewish Fighting Organisation, and had good contacts with the local
Home Army Leadership. “Orzet” was eventually sentenced by Home Army court-
martial to death for a series of robberies.%?

Five other testimonies describe fighting with independent Jewish groups. The
authors accused Home Army members of being provocative.®> Misza Krupczyk
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claims that partisan attacks led to his group’s involvement with a Soviet partisan
formation.®* The attacks affected three family camps: one in Parczew woods, one
in Lipczanski forest, one in Nacki forest. The first was in the care of Jechiel Gryn-
szpan’s detachment, which was part of the People’s Guard. The other two were
involved with Soviet partisan formations. There was a fusillade that led to a number
of deaths. These acts of aggression can be explained in view of the Home Army fight
against hostile communist formations.%

Quite a few, i.e. fifteen, testimonies contain information on inter-partisan fight-
ing. Their authors are Jews, either Soviet or People’s Guard/Army partisans. Such
fighting involving Soviet partisan formations took place in the Vilna, Nowogrédek
and Biatystok regions.®® The testimonies describe the skirmishes. The Home Army
is described only as a political enemy and a belligerent. Emphasis is laid on its
strength and the fact that it is a real threat to Soviet partisan formations. Two testi-
monies suggest that the Home Army had contacts with the Germans.®” Abram Mane-
lis’s testimony from the Biatystok region mentions an interesting case of a Home
Army detachment being incorporated into a Soviet one. Soon the Jewish group had
to pay for this. When the commander decided to move to a different area, Home
Army members purportedly demanded that the Jews be sent away, as a condition
for the Poles to take part in the new operation. The commander agreed, for military
and political reasons, as he wanted the Polish group to take part.® Fighting between
the Home Army and the People’s Guard is dealt with in six testimonies, mainly from
the Lublin region. The skirmishes took place in the Minkowicki forest, in the village
of Chrzczonéw, near Lukéw, and Biata Podlaska. One testimony comes from the
Kielce region, to wit from the woods near Ostrowiec.® Most testimonies contain
enigmatic information on skirmishes, and ambushes set up by the Home Army in
the woods. Contrary to Soviet partisans’ testimonies, some Jews who were People’s
Guard partisans had bad personal experiences with the Home Army.”

Other formations are also mentioned in testimonies dealing with the Home Army.
Pro-independence underground organisations such as the Peasants’ Battalions, so-
cialist armed groups, and the National Armed Forces are less frequently mentioned
than the Home Army. Since they are dealt with separately in the testimonies, I sepa-
rated them from those dealing with the Home Army, even through they had been,
either in part or completely, incorporated into the Home Army.
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According to popular opinion, the National Armed Forces was an organisation
that fought against the Jews. It is mentioned only in 15 testimonies, and is frequently
mentioned in connection with the Home Army. One testimony, by Izak Lichtenberg,
contains harsh words on the complicity of “the entire National Armed Forces and a
part of the Home Army in catching, denouncing and killing Jews near Piotrkéw, Ra-
dom and Kielce. The accusations refer to particular detachments: “Powata’s” (Home
Army) and “Bohun’s” (National Armed Forces).””! Furthermore, 6 testimonies men-
tion murders of Jews committed by the National Armed Forces. Most of them dis-
cuss attacks on Jews hiding in the woods: Abram Bron’s group in Janéw forest in
the Lublin region, a group of 12 Jews camping on marshes near Wizna, a group of
25 refugees from the camp at Blizyna (Kielce region), the bunker at Rajgréd and
hideouts near Potaniec (the latter two in the Cracow region).”> Authors of testimo-
nies from Kielce suggest that the National Armed Forces organised an escape of five
people from the ghetto and then killed them upon reaching the woods.

Four testimonies mention the National Armed Forces in the context of conflict
with communist partisan formations. Awigdor Nietowicki’s testimony presents the
National Armed Forces as an organisation that dominated the entire area (Lomza
region), hunted communists, and was preparing an anti-Soviet uprising.”® Others in-
form about skirmishes between the National Armed Forces and the People’s Guard
in Rudniki, Chrzczonéw and Janéw forest (all in the Lublin region) and in Branski
forest in the Podlasie region.” One testimony from the Kielce region makes a strong
accusation against the National Armed Forces concerning collaboration with the
Germans during a round-up for partisans.”

As many as four testimonies deal with one event, to wit the liquidation of Ignacy
Podolski’s group by the National Armed Forces. Podolski’s group was part of the
Anielewicz detachment, subordinated to the People’s Guard. Details of this incident
are given in Eliasz Bumac’s testimony. Piasecki, the commander of the National
Armed Forces detachment, visited the Jewish detachment, and while talking to
Podolski, drew his gun and shot him. A fusillade broke out and 30 Jews died. There
are certain discrepancies between testimonies and the information they provide is
second-hand. Some mention “treacherous murder” of Ignacy’s group, a National
Armed Forces ambush, even a skirmish. Some Polish historians dismiss the thesis
that the National Armed Forces were the culprit and suggest that the murder could
have been carried out by a People’s Guard detachment.”®
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Two testimonies concerning the National Armed Forces stand out. Jankiel Klein-
man encountered a National Armed Forces patrol in the woods, but during the inter-
rogation did not admit that he was Jewish and joined “Jacek’s” detachment in the
Lublin region. As a National Armed Forces partisan, he took part in fighting against
the People’s Army. He remained with the detachment until it was disbanded.”” On
the other hand, the testimony of two refugees from Kielce mentions collaboration
with the National Armed Forces. Planning their escape, the authors got in contact
with a few people, including a member of the National Armed Forces, Kazubek. Af-
ter they had escaped they found him in the woods in a group of 17, which included
3 Poles from the National Armed Forces. Kazubek continued to help them, but not
for free. Even though the authors give an example of collaboration with the National
Armed Forces, they are generally very unfavourable to this formation.”®

A mere 7 testimonies mention partisan detachments of the Peasants’ Battalions.
Still, they reflect an entire spectrum of this formation’s attitudes towards the Jews.
Testimonies mention two groups of refugees from ghettos that were allowed to join
the Peasants’ Battalions. The first was stationed near Przemy$lany, the second near
Lukow in the Lublin region, although its contact with the leadership was weak and
eventually was broken off.”? On the other hand, the attempt to obtain permission
from the commandant of the Rzeszéw district to allow Jews from the local ghettos
to join the formation failed. The refusal was purportedly justified by one sentence:
“It would be shameful for us to consort with the Jews.”# This observation illustrates
a deep divide between the two ethnic groups, which makes all attempts at under-
standing impossible, even when faced by a common enemy.

Three authors of testimonies regarding the Peasants’ Battalions were members
of that formation. All of them joined by recommendation of their Polish friends.
Emilia Pachciarkéwna apparently did not hide her identity while with the detach-
ment. Her father, Szlama, even built bunkers for the partisans in the woods.?' Two
authors of testimonies remained in partisan detachments “on Aryan papers”. Hele-
na Schmalholz explained this feeling by the fact that she felt she was threatened by
the partisans, but she stresses the enormous friendliness offered to her and her sons
by the detachment commander.8>

Two testimonies mention Peasants’ Battalions’ violence towards the Jews. One
author, Naftali Spanglet, stayed under a false name with a Peasants’ Battalions de-
tachment in the Rzeszéw district. Eventually he was promoted and commanded a
small unit. His subordinates found two Jews hiding in the woods and asked their
commander for permission to assault them to seize their weapons. Spanglet man-
aged to cleverly talk them out of it, warn those hiding and find them a new hide-
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out.®® Another testimony, Zelman Baum’s, mentions a veritable local war between a
Peasants’ Battalions detachment and a Jewish group near Koprzywnica (Sandomi-
erz area). Members of this group posed as Poles, were armed, and had their agents
in the local structures of the Peasants’ Battalions. Their main task was to protect
Jews hiding in the neighbouring villages and forests. They tried to obtain informa-
tion about planned denunciations, “blown” hideouts, and committed murders; they
pressed the Poles who were hiding Jews to continue with their efforts, and searched
for hideouts for the newcomers. Their activities met with some resistance, they were
hunted, and attempts were made to kill them. The testimony contains descriptions
of ambushes set up by partisans, and it paints an atmosphere of a campaign against
Jews, and a number of murders of Jews in the area committed by members of the
Peasants’ Battalions and the Home Army. It even says that the Peasants’ Battalions’
objective was to finish off the Jews.5

The only group that is not accused of being anti-Jewish is that of the Polish
socialists. True, their armed groups are mentioned only in five testimonies, but al-
ways in a favourable light. It is difficult, however, to identify precisely which armed
group the authors are talking about. One testimony specifies a detachment of the
Polish People’s Army, i.e. the armed arm of the Polish Workers’ Socialist Party
(Robotnicza Polska Partia Socjalistyczna). In other testimonies the authors use
the term “a PPS partisan unit”. This may refer to the People’s Guard of the PPS-
WRN, the armed arm of Polish Socialists, i.e. the Socialist Fighting Organisation,
but also the above-mentioned Polish People’s Army. Two testimonies describe the
history of collaboration between a group of Jews from Pilica (Miechéw area) with
“Rudolf’s” group. They collected weapons together. During deportations from the
ghetto, Jews were hidden in peasants’ homes in the village of Podgérze.5> Three fur-
ther testimonies deal with individuals joining [partisan] detachments. One of them,
Adolf Wolfgang, witnessed very compassionate conversations and help offered by
a detachment commander to Jews hiding in the woods, although he kept it a secret
from the members of his unit.%

The image of communist partisan formations of the People’s Guard/Army large-
ly differs from that of the pro-independence formations. The difference comes down
primarily to a different approach to Jews willing to join and to the issue of forming
detachments from Jewish groups. I have found 37 testimonies concerning People’s
Guard detachments, with as many as thirty written by its members. Thus a decisive
majority of these testimonies portray relations within the People’s Guard, and not
from the outside as was usually the case with the Home Army. This is of crucial
importance for this formation’s image in the testimonies.
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A mere glance at how individuals got to the partisan detachment of the People’s
Guard shows important differences between the various partisan formations. Of
course, those that joined this partisan formation were Polish Workers Party mem-
bers, active in towns or those who got in touch there with a party cell. Such tes-
timonies are relatively few.®” But most authors were accepted after an accidental
encounter in the woods or in a village.®® In one case a Pole put in a good word for
one author, not as a member of the communist underground, but through personal
contacts.® Marian Szarach mentions that he was accepted as a member of a parti-
san unit because the commander turned out to be his acquaintance.’® Only Moszek
Merenstein’s testimony contains words that can be interpreted as a suggestion of
having to overcome certain difficulties: “I managed to show my identification and
prove that I was a fighter from Sobibér and was accepted as a member of the parti-
san detachment.”!

The authors have rather favourable memories of their time with the [partisan]
detachments. Kalman Bucheister was greeted warmly by the partisans, even though
due to his [advanced] age and disease he was unable to take active part in com-
bat.”? According to Hersz Broner’s testimony, Jewish partisans were praised by their
commander for their outstanding achievements in combat.”® People’s Guard mem-
bers were twice expelled from the detachment, but only on account of poor health,
which rendered them unfit for action.?* It should be noted that Jews in the People’s
Guard virtually did not hide their true identity.

Testimonies mention eight Jewish People’s Guard detachments. Most of them
were groups of refugees from the ghettos, which after some time of independent
activity were incorporated into the People’s Guard. The famous Jechiel Grynszpan’s
detachment operated independently in Parczew forest between late 1942 and May
1943, keeping a civilian camp of several hundred people, but it maintained contacts
with the People’s Guard.?® A large group led by Abram Bron, made up of a hundred
refugees from Jandw Lubelski and the neighbouring area, did not start to search for
partisans until the spring of 1943, when it was incorporated into the People’s Guard
as aresult.”® A testimony of a refugee from Wislica differs from others in that a size-
able organized group of “Gordonia” members had already escaped from the ghetto.
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After a lengthy search they found a People’s Guard detachment, with which they es-
tablished loose contacts that consisted in sharing information.*” A group of refugees
from a Jewish POW camp in Lublin led by Samuel Jeger found itself in the woods in
the autumn of 1942 and only then established contact with the People’s Guard.’® At
a fairly late date, in July 1944, Dawid Kepinski’s group escaped from the camp in Os-
trowiec Swietokrzyski, but it did not join an existing detachment either, but formed
its own unit, formally belonging to the People’s Army.?® A testimony from Ostrowiec
mentions a Polish-Jewish People’s Guard detachment, operating since the autumn
of 1942 in Swietokrzyski forest, led by a Jew by the name of Bach from the Itza ghet-
to. This testimony is extremely brief, but I believe that it was made up of refugees,
similar to those already mentioned.!®® Marian Szarach talks about the Jewish Berek
Joselewicz’s detachment, but he stayed with it for a very short time.!™!

Those detachments that were formed after the Warsaw ghetto uprising were
eventually subordinated to the People’s Army. They were Mordechaj Growas’s, Dow
Szniper’s, Adam Szwarcfus’s and Ignacy Podolski’s groups, and together formed
the Mordechaj Anielewicz detachment. These groups operated in Wyszkéw for-
est. It seems that the detachment lost its Jewish character: at least Szwarcfus’s and
Podolski’s groups were ethnically mixed: Polish-Jewish. The detachment fell apart.
Growas’s group presumably joined the Home Army and was never heard of after-
wards. Szniper returned to Warsaw. Janek Biaty’s group was denounced, exposed
and murdered by the Germans in August 1943. Podolski’s group was destroyed in
the spring of 1944, probably by the National Armed Forces. The survivors reached
the Biatystok region, where they joined the Jewish detachment “Naprzéd” (For-
ward), which was a Soviet partisan formation.!

Both the fact that Jews could freely join People’s Guard detachments and the
formation of Jewish detachments are very favourably remembered by the authors
of testimonies. This demonstrated that communist partisan formations were open
to those seeking help, and were free from national prejudice. One should be mind-
ful that the People’s Guard, established in April 1942, whose aim was to start im-
mediate partisan activity, lacked volunteers, military cadres and weapons. That is
why all kinds of small groups operating in the woods were incorporated: Soviet
refugees from POW camps, refugees from the ghettos, and even bandits.!° Those
Jewish groups that were able to arm themselves were gladly accepted. Members
of the Polish Workers’ Party trapped in the ghettos, who counted on weapons and
support during escape and later, were in a far worse situation. The testimony of
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Sara Gutgold, a communist from Czestochowa, is fraught with bitterness at the
lack of any real collaboration between the Polish Workers’” Party and the com-
munists in the ghetto. Accusations range from cheating of Jews in weapon-related
matters, to breach of agreements and unnecessary risking of Jewish lives.!®* The
People’s Guard’s weakness is reflected in the collaboration of one detachment op-
erating near Rzeczyca with Jews from the Krasnik camp. It was the camp under-
ground organisation that offered help to the detachment by providing medicine
and clothes. Only a few prisoners managed to escape from the camp before its
liquidation.!%

The relations between the People’s Guard leadership and the commanders of
Jewish detachments were not always smooth. Some conflicts are reflected in the
testimonies. The testimony of Mieczystaw Gruber, who succeeded Samuel Jeger as
commander of a Jewish detachment, contains a description, alas fairly laconic, of
a conflict with the battalion commander, “Kolka” (Mikotaj Meluch). After battalion
reorganisation following a battle with the Germans in May 1944, “Kolka” refused to
accept the Jewish partisans back into his outfit. When a Jew in Chil Grynszpan’s
detachment accidentally shot a Pole, “Kolka” “started an anti-Jewish uproar.” Unfor-
tunately, the author failed to specify what the “uproar” involved, but Grynszpan’s
group left the People’s Guard as a result. At the same time, Gruber emphasizes the
friendly attitude of the People’s Guard’s Lublin district command, i.e. generals Bar-
anowski and Rola-Zymierskj.!0

Two completely contradictory testimonies deal with the relations in Wyszkow
detachments. In his testimony given in 1946, Jan Zateski, “Dudek”, describes the lo-
cal People’s Guard leadership as follows: “Often the commander would send Jews to
carry out tasks that were doomed to fail, thus losing them, or they would expose in-
dividual partisans or entire outfits. The Warsaw underground was familiar with the
‘Dudek’ (yours truly) affair; he protested and stood up for the exposed and mistreat-
ed Jewish partisans, which jeopardized him vis-a-vis the party (i.e. the Polish Work-
ers’ Party). He was branded a Jewish nationalist and relieved of his command.”1%”
A different, very favourable opinion of the attitude of the Polish leadership towards
Jewish partisans can be found in Bronistaw Jaworski’s testimony.!%

One consequence of incorporating various kinds of groups into the People’s
Guard, and thus people of different opinions, was internal conflicts, which some-
times affected the Jews. There are a few known cases of tragic incidents, when
Jewish members of People’s Guard detachments or those in their care were mur-
dered by their comrades. In the fund I studied, I found only one testimony that
described such an incident. Abram Bron’s group, operating in the woods outside
Janéw Lubelski, was incorporated in Wtadystaw Skrzypek’s People’s Guard detach-
ment. After some time, the Polish members of the detachment murdered 17 Jews.

104 Sara Gutgold’s testimony, AZIH 301/4615.

105 Testimonies of Hersz Broner, AZIH 301/275, Nuchim Rozenel (301/2221).
106 Mieczystaw Gruber’s testimony, AZIH 301/114.
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The rest of the group left, but in November 1943, at the request of Polish Workers’
Party representatives, returned. According to other sources, the one responsible is
Karol Hercenberg-Lemiszewski, commander of a People’s Guard detachment that
camped near Skrzypek’s group. He shot two Jewish guards, who had let themselves
be disarmed, and then tried to kill another partisan. The Jews began to defend them-
selves and Lemiszewski was wounded, which infuriated his subordinates. A fusil-
lade broke out, which soon engaged Skrzypek’s detachment.!?

Naturally, Jewish members of the People’s Guard did fight against Home Army
and National Armed Forces partisan formations. This has been discussed above.
Some testimonies mention executions of collaborators carried out by Jewish par-
tisans of the People’s Guard."'® Such operations raise certain questions, because
the word “collaborator” did not necessarily have to mean people collaborating with
the Germans. At least in one case, the “collaborators” were Polish pro-independ-
ence underground activists. In January 1943 at Drzewica, a Jewish People’s Guard
detachment, commanded by Izrael Ajzenman, murdered seven civilians, whom the
author of the testimony mentions by name. He interprets this incident precisely as a
crackdown on collaborators, who “were interrupting” the Polish Workers’ Party un-
derground activity. He also emphasises that the operation was an example of Polish
and Jewish Polish Workers’ Party activists.!!'' There could have been more of such
erroneous interpretations.

Testimonies of Jewish survivors were the basis for stereotypes concerning Polish
underground military formations. These can be briefly summarised as follows: the
Home Army did not try to facilitate Jews’ escapes to the woods or their formation
of partisan detachments. Even the ghetto organizations that collaborated with the
Home Army, such as the Warsaw Jewish Fighting Organisation, could not count on it
in this matter. It was very difficult for individual people to get to partisan formations.
Jews who were partisans in the Home Army had to hide their true identity. In turn,
Jews hiding in the villages and woods could only expect death at the hands of Home
Army partisans. A similar picture of the Peasants’ Battalions’ partisan formations
emerges from those testimonies. On the other hand, socialist partisan formations
have been remembered only favourably. Unlike the above, testimonies concerning
the National Armed Forces do not, as a rule, discuss the issue of Jewish accession.
This might sound paradoxical, but Polish partisans of the pro-independence forma-
tions are primarily a threat according to testimonies of Jewish civilians. A separate
issue, however, is that of the picture of the Home Army in the testimonies of Jews
who were Soviet and People’s Guard/Army partisans, where this organisation was
perceived as a political enemy.

109 Abram Bron’s testimony, AZIH 301/542. S. Krakowski, The War..., op. cit., 93-95. P. Gon-
tarczyk, Polska Partia..., op. cit, 252-253. These testimonies do not reflect the apparently greatest
crime, i.e. the murder of around 100 Jews hiding in the Ludmitéwka area by Grzegorz Korczyriski’s
group. See P. Gontarczyk, ibid., 178-182.
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Generally, Jews tended to be more trustful of the communist partisan formations.
The People’s Guard/Army had its Jewish detachments, and the individual accession
of Jews to these detachments was not obstructed. But I am not certain whether dur-
ing the occupation the Jews who were not involved at the organisational level with
the Polish Workers’ Party cherished the myth of Jew-friendly communist partisan
formations. Refugees from the ghettos hardly ever decided to join a specific forma-
tion. When they chose to join the partisans, they were not interested in the concrete
political option they represented, as long as it fought against the Germans and was
not hostile to the Jews. On the other hand, it seems that it was already during the
war that the myth of the Home Army and the National Armed Forces as extremely
anti-Semitic organisations was created. The testimonies of murders and fear of par-
tisans from these formations are too numerous to be only a product of post-war
manipulations. It must be borne in mind, however, that the Home Army was not
an ideologically homogeneous population, but a military organisation made up of
armed groups of different political parties: from the socialists to the nationalists.
It was also better known, so other group’s activity could have been ascribed to it.
Hence, I believe, its marked presence in the testimonies.

The picture of Polish pro-independence partisan formations in Jewish testimo-
nies looks rather sordid. The issue of the attitude of the partisans to the Jews natu-
rally requires further in-depth examination, primarily of Polish sources, because the
materials I have analysed represent the point of view of but one side. I also think
that the partisans ought to be treated as part of Polish society, and not merely as
members of military organisations who just followed orders. Their views and ac-
tions reflect the then various attitudes of Poles towards the Jews, perhaps in a more
radical form. We will not get anywhere by defaming or exonerating the individual
organisations. We should follow Dieter Pohl’s postulate to integrate as closely as
possible Holocaust history and general social history under the occupation.!? I be-
lieve this is the only way to construct a comprehensive, i.e. more accurate, picture
of Polish-Jewish relations during the war.

112 Dieter Pohl, “’Akcja Reinhardt’ w $wietle historiografii”, in: Dariusz Libionka, ed., Akcja
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